© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Safety and Efficacy of Disease-Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Agents

Focus on the Benefits and Risks of Etanercept

Roy Fleischmann,^{1,2} Imran Iqbal,² Pallavi Nandeshwar² and Andres Quiceno²

- 1 Radiant Research-Dallas, Dallas, Texas, USA
- 2 University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, Dallas, Texas, USA

Contents

Abstract	174
1. Background	175
1.1 Efficacy and Safety of Traditional Disease-Modifying	
Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARDs)	175
1.2 Hydroxychloroquine	175
1.3 Gold	175
1.4 Sulfasalazine	175
1.5 Methotrexate	176
1.6 Leflunomide	176
2. Combination Therapy	177
2.1 Triple Therapy	177
2.2 Cyclosporin Plus Methotrexate	177
2.3 Sulfasalazine Plus Methotrexate	177
3. Role of Tumour Necrosis Factor- α and Interleukin-1 in Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)	177
4. Anticytokine Therapy	178
4.1 Infliximab	178
4.2 Anakinra (Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist)	178
5. Efficacy and Tolerability of Etanercept in Adult and Juvenile RA	179
5.1 Etanercept in Patients with RA not Responding to DMARDs	179
5.2 Etanercept in Combination with Methotrexate	181
5.3 Etanercept in Early Disease	182
5.4 Long-Term Open Studies in Adult RA with Etanercept	186
5.5 Etanercept in Juvenile RA	187
6. Etanercept in Other Diseases	187
6.1 Psoriasis	187
6.2 Still's Disease in Adults	188
6.3 Ankylosing Spondylitis	188
6.4 Progressive Systemic Sclerosis	189
6.5 Wegener's Granulomatosis	189
6.6 Uveitis	189
7. Other issues with Etanercept	190
7.1 Institution of Therapy	190
7.2 Administration	190
7.3 Effects in Special Populations	190
7.4 Effects on Immune Function	190

8. Safety	1
8.1 Injection Site Reactions	1
8.2 Infection	1
8.3 Development of Malignancy	1
8.4 Neurological Effects	1
8.5 Haematological Effects	1
8.6 Pregnancy and Lactation	1
8.7 Use in Malignancy and Hepatitis C	2
8.8 Rare Events	2
8.9 Autoantibodies	2
9. Conclusions	2

Abstract

The traditional approach to the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) has been the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs usually in combination with a disease-modifying antirheumatic drug (DMARD) such as hydroxychloroquine, gold, sulfasalazine, methotrexate, leflunomide or cyclosporin. Each of these DMARDs has its own distinct toxicities but has also been shown to be effective in reducing signs and symptoms of disease and to some extent, reduce radiological progression.

Within the past 10 years, the combination of several traditional DMARDs has been shown to have increased efficacy over monotherapy without a significant increase in toxicity in a majority of studies.

Recently, the US Food and Drug Administration has approved infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α in combination with methotrexate, for the treatment of signs and symptoms of RA, delay of radiological progression of disease and improvement of physical function while anakinra, an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist, has been approved for the treatment of the signs and symptoms of RA either as monotherapy or in combination with methotrexate.

Etanercept is the first biological response modifier approved for use in RA in the US. Double-blind, randomised controlled studies have shown etanercept to be effective therapy in patients with RA who have had inadequate response to DMARDs, in combination with methotrexate, and as early monotherapy. Similar results were seen in juvenile and psoriatic arthritis in DMARD nonresponders. Open-label studies have shown efficacy in adult Still's disease, ankylosing spondylitis, progressive systemic sclerosis, Wegener's granulomatosis and chronic uveitis.

Safety issues are a concern because of the ubiquitous role of TNF. To date the only consistent adverse event seen with etanercept has been injection site reactions. Infections occur at the same rate and with the same frequency as the placebo population. There should be caution, however, with using etanercept in patients with a serious infection, or recurrent infections or patients with untreated or latent tuberculosis. As of yet there has not been seen an increase of malignancies. Rare neurological and haematological events have been noted.

Etanercept has been a significant addition to the armamentarium of medications for the treatment of RA, juvenile and psoriatic arthritis. Preliminary data show that it may be well tolerated and effective in other rheumatic diseases in which there is over production of $TNF\alpha$.

1. Background

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a systemic inflammatory disease with its primary manifestation in the synovium. The disease is characterised by a chronic, symmetric polyarthritis that typically affects the wrists, hands and feet as well as other synovial joints. It is a systemic disease characterised by fatigue, low-grade fever, anaemia, serositis and a systemic vasculitis.^[1]

RA has been described worldwide with a prevalence of 1% in the adult population. The age distribution is unimodal with the peak age of onset between the fourth and sixth decades of life. Women are twice as likely to have the disease.^[2,3]

Mortality is increased in patients with RA.^[4,5] Mean life expectancy is shortened by 7 years in males and 3 years in female.^[6] Death most often results from infection, heart disease, respiratory failure, renal failure and gastrointestinal disease. Patients with RA are prone to premature atherosclerosis.^[7] Since it is a chronic disabling condition, one of the most important economic outcomes is work disability. Rates of work disability in the US and Europe range from 22 to 85% and 31 to 80%, respectively.^[8]

The primary goals of management of RA include alleviation of pain, reduction of inflammation, preservation of muscle strength and joint function, prevention of joint damage and maintenance of as normal a lifestyle as possible.^[9]

1.1 Efficacy and Safety of Traditional Disease-Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARDs)

For many years the traditional approach to treatment of RA was to provide symptomatic relief with aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). As the disease progressed, usually by an average of 4 years, physicians would add disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) and/or corticosteroids. The most commonly used compounds include gold (parenteral or oral), hydroxychloroquine, sul-

fasalazine, cyclosporin, methotrexate and, recently, leflunomide.

1.2 Hydroxychloroquine

Hydroxychloroquine has been used in early, mild disease primarily because it is relatively safe. [10] Many patients, however, have only a modest response. Hydroxychloroquine interferes with antigen processing, leading to reduced stimulation of CD4+ T cells resulting in down-regulation of auto-immune response. [11]

1.3 Gold

Parenteral organic gold compounds have been used since the 1920s for the treatment of RA.^[10] Its clinical efficacy has been shown in double-blind studies^[12] and radiographic efficacy has been demonstrated by decreased Sharp scores.^[13] The comparison of weekly administration of parenteral gold 50mg with weekly administration of methotrexate 15mg showed a higher proportion of patients reaching remission with gold but also increased toxicity with gold.^[14] Adverse reactions including mucocutaneous reactions, proteinuria and cytopenias have limited the use of gold.

1.4 Sulfasalazine

Early uncontrolled trials^[15,16] in the late 1940s demonstrated efficacy of sulfasalazine, which was confirmed later in controlled trials.[17-26] Two of these trials^[25,26] showed delay of radiographic progression when compared with placebo. In a metaanalysis, [27] sulfasalazine was comparable in efficacy to gold, penicillamine and methotrexate. Sulfasalazine has a wide range of adverse effects, which limits its clinical usefulness.[28] These include adverse gastrointestinal (GI) and hepatic effects (including transaminitis), rash, neutropenia, aplastic anaemia, agranulocytosis, haemolysis, yellowish skin discoloration of skin, urine and contact lenses as well as reversible infertility in men. Sulfasalazine, although not commonly used as first-line DMARD therapy in the US, remains very

popular with rheumatologists elsewhere in the world.

1.5 Methotrexate

Methotrexate, an analogue of folic acid, is an antimetabolite. Four double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled trials with oral or intramuscular methotrexate showed superior efficacy to placebo.[29-32] A meta-analysis^[33] showed that methotrexatetreated patients had significant improvement in swollen and tender joints, joint pain and morning stiffness. Multiple other studies have confirmed its efficacy.[34-40] It has become the 'gold' standard by which all new DMARD therapies for RA are judged.[41-44] A meta-analysis showed that methotrexate is superior to hydroxychloroquine and oral gold, and comparable with sulfasalazine, intramuscular gold, penicillamine and leflunomide in efficacy.^[27] It is better tolerated than each of these other than leflunomide to which it is comparable.[27,45,46] Healing of erosions but not prevention of disease progression has been documented with methotrexate,[47-54] although it has recently been shown that it slows disease progression.[55] Prospective long-term studies have shown that methotrexate is better tolerated and more efficacious than older DMARDs and that a far higher percentage of patients remain on for a longer period of time when compared with these DMARDs.[56-58] Adverse effects include stomatitis, GI intolerance, and bone marrow suppression (all responsive to folic acid supplementation), idiosyncratic allergiclike lung injury and liver damage, the latter requiring frequent and careful monitoring of hepatic enzyme levels.^[59,60] It is an abortifacient and causes birth defects. Conception should be avoided on this medication and both males and females should employ appropriate contraceptive measures.

1.6 Leflunomide

Leflunomide is an antiproliferative isoxazole compound. A placebo-controlled trial compared leflunomide, methotrexate and placebo for 52

weeks. [46] ACR 20[61] is defined as at least a 20% improvement in tender and swollen joint count as well as at least a 20% improvement in at least three of the following five parameters: (i) patient assessment of pain; (ii) patient global assessment of disease activity; (iii) physician global assessment of disease activity; (iv) acute phase reactants [erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) or C-reactive protein (CRP)]; and (v) measurement of physical function [such as Health Assessment Questionnaire (HAO)]. An ACR 50 would require at least a 50% improvement in these same parameters and an ACR 70 a 70% improvement. In this trial, ACR 20 response rates of 52, 48 and 26% and ACR 50 response of 34, 23 and 8% for leflunomide, methotrexate and placebo, respectively, were seen. The response with leflunomide and methotrexate were statistically equivalent and significantly greater than placebo. Several multinational trials have confirmed these results.^[62,63] A 24-week doubleblind, randomised, controlled trial comparing leflunomide, sulfasalazine and placebo showed ACR 20 response rates of 55, 56, and 29% and ACR 50 response of 33, 30, and 14% for leflunomide, sulfasalazine and placebo, respectively.^[64] Leflunomidetreated patients had improved function as assessed by the HAO when compared with sulfasalazine or methotrexate. Leflunomide, sulfasalazine, and methotrexate all significantly retarded x-ray progression compared with placebo, but the degree of disease progression was significantly less with leflunomide than with methotrexate or sulfasalazine. [55,65,66] Two trials explored the combination of leflunomide with methotrexate. Both showed a significant clinical improvement with the combination. A significant number of patients in both trials had elevated transaminase levels.[67,68] Common adverse effects of leflunomide are diarrhoea, dyspepsia, abdominal pain, elevation of liver transaminase levels, hypertension, rash, reversible alopecia and headaches. [46,55,62-68]

2. Combination Therapy

2.1 Triple Therapy

In a double-blind, controlled, randomised study, the combination of methotrexate 7.5 to 17.5 mg/week, sulfasalazine 500mg twice daily plus hydroxychloroquine 200mg twice daily was compared with methotrexate alone and the combination of sulfasalazine plus hydroxychloroquine. [69] After 24 months, 77% of patients receiving triple therapy, 40% of those receiving sulfasalazine plus hydroxychloroquine and 33% receiving methotrexate alone achieved a clinically significant response. The study has to be interpreted in the light of a slow escalation and low dose of methotrexate and use of low-dose sulfasalazine.

2.2 Cyclosporin Plus Methotrexate

In a 6-month randomised, double-blind trial, the combination of cyclosporin 2.5 to 5 mg/kg plus methotrexate ≤15 mg/week was compared with methotrexate plus placebo in patients with partial response to methotrexate. [70] 48% of patients treated with methotrexate plus cyclosporin achieved an ACR 20 compared with 16% of patients treated with methotrexate alone. However, serum creatinine levels increased significantly in patients treated with methotrexate plus cyclosporin.

2.3 Sulfasalazine Plus Methotrexate

In a double-blind, randomised, step-down design trial, the combination of sulfasalazine 500 mg/day (increased to 2000 mg/day over a period of 3 weeks), methotrexate 7.5 mg/week and a prednisolone taper (with an unusually high starting dosage of prednisolone) was compared with sulfasalazine alone in 155 patients with early RA.^[71] After 40 weeks, patients were treated solely with sulfasalazine as prednisolone was discontinued after 28 weeks and methotrexate after 40 weeks. At 28 weeks 72% of patients in the combination therapy group achieved an ACR 20, as compared with

49% in the sulfasalazine only group. Radiological evaluation after 28 weeks of treatment showed that 31% of patients in the combination group had a stable Sharp's score with a slower rate of progression compared with only 13% in the sulfasalazine group.

3. Role of Tumour Necrosis Factor- α and Interleukin-1 in Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

Tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-α and interleukin (IL)-1 play pivotal roles in the inflammation and joint damage of RA. High levels of $TNF\alpha$ and IL-1 are found in the synovial fluid of patients with RA. Both of these cytokines have been shown to stimulate resorption of cartilage and inhibit synthesis of proteoglycan^[72-75] and both are potent stimulators of synovial fibroblasts, osteoclasts and chondrocytes that release tissue destroying matrix metalloproteins and inhibit the production of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteins by synovial fibroblasts.^[76] These actions are thought to lead to joint damage. TNFa may also stimulate the production of IL-11, which induces development of osteoclasts leading to bone degradation.^[77] TNFα stimulates fibroblasts to express adhesion molecules such as intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), which upon interacting with their respective ligands on the leucocyte surface results in increased transport of leucocytes into the joint.^[78] IL-1 is produced by monocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, B cells and activated T cells. Injection of IL-1 into the knee joints of rabbits results in the degradation of cartilage.^[79] TNFα has a dominant role in RA, since it has been shown that in cultures of synovial cells from RA patients which were treated with TNFα antibodies, there was a significant reduction in IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor. [80]

4. Anticytokine Therapy

4.1 Infliximab

Infliximab is a chimeric immunoglobulin (Ig) G1 monoclonal antibody that neutralises the biological activity of TNFa by binding with high affinity to soluble and transmembrane forms of TNFα and inhibiting binding of TNFα to its receptors. [81,82] It was the first antiTNFα agent to be used in patients with RA in whom previous DMARD therapy had failed.^[83] A placebo-controlled trial confirmed efficacy of infliximab in RA with a 60 to 70% decrease in measures of disease activity. [84] A placebo-controlled trial of repeated treatment cycles of infliximab either as monotherapy or combined with methotrexate confirmed safety and the fact that methotrexate protects against the development of human antichimeric antibodies (HACAs).[85]

A 102-week placebo-controlled trial investigated the clinical response (at week 30), x-ray progression (at week 54) and change in patient function of infliximab (at week 102) in a population of RA patients with an incomplete response to methotrexate. [86,87] Patients received methotrexate plus placebo or one of four regimens of infliximab plus methotrexate: 3 mg/kg at 0, 2, and 6 weeks followed by additional infusions every 4 weeks or every 8 weeks, or 10 mg/kg of intravenous infliximab at 0, 2, and 6 weeks followed by additional infusions every 4 weeks or every 8 weeks. At 30 weeks, the ACR 20 response criteria was achieved in 53, 50, 58, and 52% of patients receiving 3 mg/kg every 4 or 8 weeks or 10 mg/kg every 4 or 8 weeks, respectively, compared with 20% of patients receiving methotrexate alone. At week 54, patients treated with infliximab and methotrexate (all doses) had marked decrease of radiographic progression when compared with methotrexate alone as assessed by the modified Sharp score and this had been maintained at the end of 2 years. [88] Repeated infusions occasionally were associated with flushing, headache or rash. No increased risk of serious infections or sepsis was observed. The

development of tuberculosis, as well as other fungal infections, has been reported postmarketing with the use of infliximab, which has recently resulted in a change to the product label in the US.^[89] Anti-double-stranded DNA, a marker of renal lupus has been reported in 7% of patients treated with infliximab but clinical lupus was rare.^[90] 10% of patients developed human antichimeric antibodies.^[90]

4.2 Anakinra (Interleukin-1 Receptor Antagonist)

The efficacy of anakinra (interleukin-1 receptor antagonist) has been evaluated as monotherapy and in combination with methotrexate. In a placebocontrol study, patients received placebo or anakinra at 30, 75 or 150 mg/day. [91] In the 150 mg/day group, 43% of patients obtained an ACR 20 response, as compared with 27% of patients in the placebo group. Radiological evaluation measured by Larsen score showed a 41% slowing rate in joint damage and a 46% reduction in erosive joint count in the anakinra group. Modified Sharp score analysis showed a 58% slowing in the rate of progressive joint space narrowing and a 38% slowing in the rate of joint erosion. Injection site reaction was the most common adverse effect. [92,93]

The combination of methotrexate at a maintenance dose of 12.5 to 25mg weekly and anakinra at several doses (0.1, 0.4, 1.0 and 2.0 mg/kg/day) was compared with methotrexate plus placebo. [94] At 12 weeks of therapy, 46% (p = 0.001) of patients receiving anakinra 1 mg/kg/day and 38% (p = 0.007) of patients receiving anakinra 2 mg/kg/day dose obtained an ACR 20 response, as compared with only 19% of patients in the placebo group. No rationale for the higher ACR 20 response in the 1 mg/kg group versus the 2 mg/kg group was given. Injection site reaction was the most common cause of withdrawal. Infections occurred at the same rate in the anakinra groups as in the placebo group.

5. Efficacy and Tolerability of Etanercept in Adult and Juvenile RA

Etanercept is a TNFα inhibitor. It is a recombinant protein consisting of human p75 tumour necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) fused to the Fc fragment of human immunoglobulin G1. It is a dimer, formed by combining two identical TNFR moieties with the Fc moiety (TNFR: Fc). Compared with the naturally occurring monomeric sTNFR, the etanercept molecule has increased TNF binding affinity, a longer half-life (4 days) and more potent TNF inhibitory activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Etanercept has been studied in randomised, double-blind, comparator studies in adult patients with RA who did not respond to treatment with DMARDs, as sole treatment and in combination with methotrexate, and in early RA as well as in juvenile arthritis and in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. There have also been several small studies reported in other rheumatic diseases including adult Still's disease, Wegener's granulomatosis, scleroderma, polymyositis/dermatomyositis, ankylosing spondylitis, and uveitis in children.

5.1 Etanercept in Patients with RA not Responding to DMARDs

Based on positive results in a phase I study in normal human volunteers^[95] and a phase I safety and dose-finding trial in 22 patients with refractory RA,^[96] a phase II randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of etanercept in patients with active, refractory RA was conducted.^[97]

This 3-month trial included patients who met the American Rheumatism Association criteria for RA^[98] and had experienced a lack of efficacy with between one and four specified DMARDs (including methotrexate). These DMARDs had to be discontinued a minimum of four weeks prior to administration of etanercept. Patients were allowed to continue NSAIDs and corticosteroids (<10 mg/day of prednisone or equivalent) if the dose had been stable for at least 4 weeks. Patients were

required to have active disease defined by at least 10 swollen joints (SJC), 12 tender joints (TJC) and either demonstration of inflammation by an ESR >28 or CRP >2.0 mg/dl or morning stiffness of at least 45 minutes.

Patients were evaluated at baseline and then every 2 weeks for the next 3 months. Assessments included joint counts, duration of morning stiffness, HAQ, physician and patient's global assessment of disease activity, patient's assessment of pain, ESR and CRP. Patients were randomly assigned to one of four treatment groups: placebo or etanercept 0.25, 2 or 16 mg/m². Study drug was administered twice weekly by subcutaneous injection. The demographics of the 180 patients enrolled are listed in table I. Clearly all of these patients had very active disease that had not responded to treatment with numerous DMARDs (table II).

The results of the study (table III) showed a significant dose response relationship. As shown in table IV, most of the patients treated with the highest dose of etanercept completed the study and they also had the highest ACR response rates (table V). Response was seen as early as the first assessment at week 2. By 8 weeks after cessation of therapy, all indicators of disease activity were almost back to baseline values. The only adverse effects reported (table VI) were mild, transient injection site reactions and mild upper respiratory infections that resolved on continued therapy with etanercept. Thus, this trial showed that etanercept, particularly in the 16mg group was very efficacious in patients with refractory RA and had a relatively benign safety profile.

Based on these results, a phase III 6-month controlled trial was conducted. [99] The inclusion criteria were similar to the phase II trial. Stable NSAID and prednisone ≤10 mg/day if stable 4 weeks prior to baseline was maintained during the study. Patients were randomly assigned to placebo, 10 or 25mg (equivalent to 16 mg/m²) of subcutaneous etanercept twice weekly. The demographics of the 234 patients in this trial (table I) were also

Table I. Demographics of patients enrolled in trials of etanercept

Study	Treatment	No. of	Mean	%	Disease	%	% RF+	% Prior	Duration of	Mean dose	Prior	No. of DMARD	% CS	Mean	%
		patients	age (y)	Female	duration (y)	White		MTX	MTX (y)	MTX (mg/wk)	DMARD	nonresponders		dose CS	NSAIDs
Phase II ^[97]	PLA	44	55	82	>5y 71%	91	NR	34 ^a	NR	0	100	NR	66	NR	73
	SC ETA 0.25 mg/m² twice/wk	46	54	70	>5y 76%	96	NR	41 ^a	NR	0	100	NR	59	NR	70
	SC ETA 2 mg/m ² twice/wk	46	52	61	>5y 80%	100	NR	30ª	NR	0	100	NR	65	NR	80
	SC ETA 16 mg/m ² twice/wk	44	52	82	>5y 89%	93	NR	27 ^a	NR	0	100	NR	77	NR	75
Phase III ^[99]	PLA	80	51	76	12	89	79	90	NR	0	100	3	58	6.8	84
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	76	53	84	13	96	82	92	NR	0	100	3.4	66	7.5	67
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	78	53	74	11	94	79	87	NR	0	100	3.3	81	7.3	67
MTX + ETA ^[100]	MTX only	30	53	73	13	83	90	100	2.9	18	100	2.8	70	NR	80
	MTX + SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	59	48	90	13	76	84	100	4.9	19	100	2.7	53	NR	75
Early RA ^[101-104]	MTX only	217	49	75	1	88	89	0	NA	18.2	46	0.6	41	7	80
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	208	50	75	0.91	84	88	0	NA	0	39	0.5	42	7	76
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	207	51	74	1	86	87	0	NA	0	40	0.5	39	9	86
JRA Part I ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m² twice/wk	69	10.5	62	5.9	75	22	100	NR	0	100	NR	36	5.6	96
JRA Part II ^[105]	PLA	26	12.2	58	6.4	88	31	100	NR	0	100	NR	50	5.5	92
	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m² twice/wk	25	8.9	76	5.3	56	16	100	NR	0	100	NR	24	6.5	100
Psoriasis ^[106]	PLA	30	43.5	40	9.5	83	NA	47 ^b	NR	NR	82	2	40	NR	77
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	30	46	47	9	90	NA	47 ^b	NR	NR	82	2	20	NR	67

a In the year prior to study.

CS = corticosteroid; ETA = etanercept; DMARD = disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs; JRA = juvenile rheumatoid arthritis; MTX = methotrexate; NA = not applicable; NR = not reported; NSAIDs = nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; PLA = placebo; RA = rheumatoid arthritis; RF+ = rheumatoid factor positive; SC = subcutaneous.

Fleischmann et al.

b During study.

similar to the phase II trail as was their baseline clinical activity (table II).

There was a dramatic response to etanercept 25mg twice weekly (table III). Again completer status (26 from the placebo group; 52 from the etanercept 10mg and 59 from the etanercept 25mg twice weekly groups) [table IV] and ACR response (table V) indicated a dose response relationship favouring higher doses of etanercept.

No significant adverse effects were noted (table VI) other than the development of mild to moderate, transient injection site reactions (ISR) and some increase in upper respiratory infections in the etanercept-treated groups. The incidence of infections, including upper respiratory tract infections, was similar between the etanercept and placebo groups when the time of therapy was taken into consideration.

5.2 Etanercept in Combination with Methotrexate

A 24-week randomised study was conducted in 89 patients who had persistently active disease despite at least 6 months' therapy with methotrexate at a stable dose of 15 to 25 mg/week (or as low as 10 mg/week if they were unable to tolerate a higher dose). Demographics of these patients are shown in table I and baseline clinical activity is shown in table II. All patients fulfilled the revised criteria for RA and had active disease defined by at least six tender and swollen joints at baseline. All patients received folic or folinic acid. All DMARDs, other than methotrexate, were discontinued a minimum of 2 to 4 weeks prior to the baseline visit depending on the DMARD.

Patients were assessed weekly for the first 2 weeks, at week 4 and then every 4 weeks until week 24 or termination. The same assessments were done as in the phase II and III studies. All patients continued their methotrexate in a stable manner for the duration of the study (mean 18 mg/week). Patients were assessed as well for the development of autoantibodies and antibodies to etanercept. Randomisation was in a 2:1 ratio to

Table II

Table II. Clinical activity at baseline in patients enrolled in trials of etanercept

Study	Treatment	No. tender	No. swollen	Morning	HAQ	ESR	CRP	Pain (VAS)	MD assess	PT assess	
		joints	joints	stiffness (h)	(0-3)	(mm/h)	(mg/dl)	[0-10]	(0-10)	(0-10)	
Phase II ^[97]	PLA	29	22	4.9	146 ^a	40	3.9	6.4	7	6.7	
	SC ETA 0.25 mg/m ² twice/wk	32	24	4.3	153 ^a	44	4.1	6.9	7.4	7.1	
	SC ETA 2 mg/m ² twice/wk	32	24	5.2	138 ^a	36	3.6	6.7	7.2	6.9	
	SC ETA 16 mg/m ² twice/wk	30	24	4.9	135	35	3.6	6.3	6.5	6.5	
Phase III ^[99]	PLA	35	25	4.8	1.7	39	4.1	6.5	6.9	6.9	
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	34	25	4.4	1.7	44	5.3	6.6	6.9	6.9	
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	33	25	5	1.6	35	4.7	6.7	6.9	7	
MTX + ETA ^[100]	MTX only	28	17	2	1.5	36	2.6	5.6	6.5	6	
	MTX + SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	28	20	1.5	1.5	25	2.2	5	6	6	
Early RA ^[101-104]	MTX only	30	24	3.7	1.4	NR	3.7	5.6	6	6.1	
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	31	24	3.7	1.4	NR	4.4	5.6	6.3	6.1	
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	31	24	3.8	1.5	NR	3.3	5.9	6.2	6.1	
JRA Part I ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	28	25	0.75	1.4	35	3.5	3.6	7	5	
JRA Part II ^[105]	PLA	7.5	6	0.08	0.4	12	0.3	0.3	1	1	
	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	13	12	0.25	0.9	15	0.2	1.3	2	2	
Psoriasis ^[106]	PLA	19	14.7	NR	1.2	16	1.2	6.2	6.8	5.8	
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	22	14	NR	1.3	22	1.4	6	6.6	6.6	

a HAQ scale = 45-245.

CRP = C-reactive protein; ESR = erythrocyte sedimentation rate; ETA = etanercept; HAQ = Health Assessment Questionnaire; JRA = juvenile rheumatoid arthritis; MD assess = doctor's assessment; MTX = methotrexate; NR = not reported; PLA = placebo; PT assess = patient assessment; RA = rheumatoid arthritis; SC = subcutaneous; VAS = visual analogue scale.

Safety and Efficacy of DMARDs

Table III

receive either subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice weekly or placebo injections.

Response to therapy is shown in tables III, IV and V. As in the previous trials in patients with refractory RA, the combination of etanercept and methotrexate was far superior to methotrexate treatment alone.

Adverse events are shown in table VI. The only significant difference in adverse effects between the two groups was again the development of transient, mild to moderate ISR in the etanercept group. Non-neutralising antibodies to etanercept were detected in only one patient at the week 24 visit. Several of the patients had antibodies to double-stranded DNA prior to the study. One patient in the placebo group and 4 patients in the etanercept group did develop antibodies to doublestranded DNA during the study. Half of these patients did not have a positive ANA (anti-nuclear antibody). A small number of patients shifted from negative to positive and positive to negative with regard to ANA and anticardiolipin antibodies. No patients had new connective-tissue disorders, thrombotic events or thrombocytopenia.

Radiographs of the hands and feet were not performed. For this reason, it is still not proven that the combination of etanercept and methotrexate is superior to methotrexate alone with respect to radiographic progression.

5.3 Etanercept in Early Disease

Etanercept has been studied in patients with RA of less than 3 years' duration who were naïve to methotrexate therapy. This was a 24-month study with efficacy the primary endpoint at 6 months and x-rays the primary endpoint at 1 year with a 12-month extension. [101-104] This study compared methotrexate (mean dose of 19 mg/week), subcutaneous etanercept 10mg twice weekly and subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice weekly. Patients had to have disease duration of less than 3 years and no prior treatment with weekly. In addition, patients had to have active disease as defined by >12 tender and >10 swollen joints as well as an

Table III. Response (% improvement versus baseline) in patients enrolled in trials of etanercept

Study	Treatment	No. tender	No. swollen	Morning	HAQ	ESR	CRP	Pain (VAS)	MD assess	PT assess
		joints	joints	stiffness (h)	(0-3)	(mm/h)	(mg/dl)	[0-10]	(0-10)	(0-10)
Phase II ^[97]	PLA	28	24	16	4	0	33	5	16	7
	SC ETA 0.25 mg/m ² twice/wk	25	16	0	10	11	41	19	24	18
	SC ETA 2 mg/m ² twice/wk	46	32	50	11	25	44	31	40	33
	SC ETA 16 mg/m ² twice/wk	64*	58*	78**	16*	40*	75*	51*	58*	51*
Phase III ^[99]	PLA	6	-7	-23	2	-18	-207	-22	2	-3
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	44	45	34	34	10	-18	39	33	31
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	56*	47*	13*	39***	18*	31*	53*	44*	46*
MTX + ETA ^[100]	MTX only	39	35	37	27	16	38	22	38	33
	MTX + SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	75*	70*	89*	47*	40*	77*	64*	67*	67*
Early RA ^[101-104]	MTX only	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
JRA Part I ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	56	58	75	37	50	60	63	60	50
JRA Part II ^[105]	PLA	-7 3	-83	-7 60	-300	-250	-1000	-1200	-500	-500
	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	39	67	66	11	-20	-100	-15	0	-50
Psoriasis ^[106]	PLA	19	14.7	NR	1.2	16	1.2	6.2	6.8	5.8
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	22	14	NR	1.3	22	1.4	6	6.6	6.6

CRP = C-reactive protein; ESR = erythrocyte sedimentation rate; ETA = etanercept; HAQ = Health Assessment Questionnaire; JRA = juvenile rheumatoid arthritis; MD assess = doctor's assessment; MTX = methotrexate; NR = not reported; PLA = placebo; PT assess = patient assessment; RA = rheumatoid arthritis; SC = subcutaneous; VAS = visual analogue scale; *p < 0.001; **p = 0.004; ***p < 0.05.

Table IV

ESR >28, a CRP >2.0 mg/dl or morning stiffness of at least 45 minutes. The population was more likely to have x-ray progression by requiring that they had to be rheumatoid factor positive or have at least three bone erosions evident on x-rays of the wrists, hands or feet at baseline. Stable NSAIDs and corticosteroids were allowed at doses similar to those used in the phase II and III trials. Patients in the methotrexate group were started at 7.5 mg/week (plus folic acid 1 mg/day). At week 4 if the patient had any tender or swollen joints, it was mandatory that the methotrexate dose be increased to 15 mg/week for an additional 4 weeks. At week 8, if the patient had any tender or swollen joints, methotrexate was increased to 20 mg/week. A reduction of the methotrexate dose by 5mg was allowed once if their serum aminotransferase concentrations were >2.5 times the upper limit of normal. Patients were assessed clinically at screening, baseline, 2 weeks, 1, 6, 8, 10 and 12 months and for x-ray at baseline, 6 and 12 months. Assessments were similar to the previous trials. In addition, a determination of the total Sharp score, erosions and joint space narrowing on x-ray was determined at the intervals noted above.[107,108] Baseline demographics of these patients are in table I, baseline clinical activity in table II, the clinical response in table III, completer analysis in table IV and the ACR response in table V.

Etanercept 25mg twice daily was clinically effective very early with response seen as early as 2 weeks. In the first 4 months of the trial, etanercept 25mg was statistically superior to methotrexate with respect to the percentage of patients who reached an ACR 20, 50 and 70. By 12 months, however, there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups. By 24 months there was a statistically significant difference between the two groups as those patients on etanercept maintained their efficacy while there were some patients on methotrexate had lost efficacy.

With respect to x-ray changes at 12 months, there was a significant reduction in the total Sharp

Table IV. Number of patients enrolled in trials of etanercept who completed or discontinued treatment

Study	Treatment	No. entered	No. patients	No. of patients	No. of patients	No. of patients	No. of patients	
			completed	discontinued drug	discontinued due	discontinued due to	discontinued for	
					to AE	lack of efficacy	other reason	
hase II ^[97]	PLA	44	23	21	2	19	0	
	SC ETA 0.25 mg/m ² twice/wk	46	28	18	2	16	0	
	SC ETA 2 mg/m ² twice/wk	46	36	10	2	8	0	
	SC ETA 16 mg/m ² twice/wk	44	41	3	1	2	0	
hase III ^[99]	PLA	80	26	54	3	42	9	
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	76	52	24	5	16	3	
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	78	59	19	2	12	5	
TX + ETA ^[100]	MTX only	30	24	6	2	4	0	
	MTX + SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	59	57	2	2	0	0	
arly RA ^[101-104]	MTX only	217	172	45	24*	8	13	
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	208	166	42	12	15	15	
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	207	176	31	11	10	10	
RA Part I ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	69	64	5	1	2	2	
RA Part II ^[105]	PLA	26	7	19	0	18	1	
	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	25	19	6	0	6	0	
soriasis ^[106]	PLA	30	26	4	NR	NR	NR	
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	30	30	0	0	0	0	

AE = adverse event; ETA = etanercept; JRA = juvenile rheumatoid arthritis; MTX = methotrexate; NR = not reported; PLA = placebo; RA = rheumatoid arthritis; SC = subcutaneous; * p < 0.03 MTX versus etanercept.

Safety and Efficacy of DMARDs

Table V. ACR^a improvement in patients enrolled in trials of etanercept (% of patients)

Trial	Treatment	Time of improvement (mo)	ACR 20 t	ACR 50	ACR 70	ACR N
Phase II ^[97]	PLA	3	14	7	NR	NA
	SC ETA 0.25 mg/m ² twice weekly	3	33	9	NR	NA
	SC ETA 2 mg/m ² twice weekly	3	46	22	NR	NA
	SC ETA 16 mg/m ² twice/wk	3	75*	57*	NR	NA
Phase III ^[99]	PLA	6	11	5	1	NA
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	6	51*	24*	9	NA
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	6	59*	40*	15*	NA
MTX + ETA ^[100]	MTX only	6	27	3	0	NA
	MTX + SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	6	71*	39*	15***	NA
Early RA ^[101-104]	MTX only	12	65	≈40	≈20	≈38
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	12	≈60	≈30	≈15	≈32
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	12	72	≈50	≈25	45**
JRA Part I ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk	3	74 ^b	64	36	NA
JRA Part II ^[105]	PLA		NA	NA	NA	NA
	SC ETA 0.4 mg/m ² twice/wk		NA	NA	NA	NA
Psoriasis ^[106]	PLA	3	13	3	0	NA
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	3	73*	50*	13	NA

a See section 1.6 for definition of ACR.

ETA = etanercept; **JRA** = juvenile rheumatoid arthritis; **MTX** = methotrexate; **NA** = not applicable; **NR** = not reported; **PLA** = placebo; **RA** = rheumatoid arthritis; **SC** = subcutaneous; * p < 0.001; *** p = 0.03.

score, erosions and joint space narrowing in all the treatment groups compared with their predicted change over time with an intent to treat analysis. There was a statistically significant difference favouring etanercept 25mg twice weekly over methotrexate and etanercept 10mg twice weekly with respect to erosions and a trend with respect to total Sharp score. By 2 years however, there was a statistically significant change favouring etanercept 25mg twice weekly versus methotrexate for both total Sharp score and erosions with very little progression in the etanercept 25mg group for both of these measures.

With respect to the x-ray changes there were several other important points noted at 1 year. No progression was seen in 75 and 57% of patients receiving etanercept 25mg twice weekly and patients receiving methotrexate, respectively. At 2 years, 63% of the patients receiving etanercept 25mg twice weekly had no progression in total Sharp score versus 51% of patients receiving meth-

otrexate. 70% of patients receiving etanercept did not progress with respect to erosions versus 58% receiving methotrexate while 78% did not progress with respect to joint space narrowing versus 62% of methotrexate recipients. Very few patients who had no erosions at baseline, whether treated with etanercept or methotrexate, had erosions at 1 year. This would suggest that early aggressive therapy in patients with no erosions could, at least in the short term, prevent the development of erosions. Also it was noted that patients receiving methotrexate 20 mg/week were more likely not to progress radiographically than those receiving less than 20 mg/week (59 vs 45%, respectively). Etanercept 25mg twice weekly, however, was more effective in this regard (75% of patients did not progress).

This trial showed that in early aggressive RA, both methotrexate in high dose and etanercept 25mg twice weekly are effective in reducing the signs and symptoms of RA, improving patient function and slowing disease progression as mea-

b 30% improvement.

Table VI. Adverse events recorded in patients enrolled in trials of etanercept (% of patients)

Study	Treatment	Injection site reactions	Rash	Skin infection	Infection	Flu-like illness	URI	Rhinitis	Sinusitis	Pharyngitis	Cough	Others
Phase II ^[97]	PLA	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR	NS
	SC ETA 0.25 mg/m ² twice/wk	a	NR	NR	NR	NR	а	a	a	a	a	NS
	SC ETA 2 mg/m ² twice/wk	а	NR	NR	NR	NR	а	a	a	a	a	NS
	SC ETA 16 mg/m ² twice/wk	a	NR	NR	NR	NR	а	a	a	a	a	NS
Phase III ^[99]	PLA	13	NR	NR	NR	NR	0.93 ^b	11	11	NR	NR	NS
	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	43	NR	NR	NR	NR	0.85 ^b	12	11	NR	NR	NS
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	49*	NR	NR	NR	NR	1.11 ^b	10	12	NR	NR	NS
MTX +	MTX only	7	NR	NR	63	NR	NR	3	NR	7	10	NS
ETA ^[100]	MTX + SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	42**	NR	NR	51	NR	NR	14	NR	2	3	NS
Early RA ^[101-104]	MTX only	7	23	10	NR	12	39	14	17	NR	NR	NS
RA[101-104]	SC ETA 10mg twice/wk	30*	16	11	NR	10	27*	17	13	NR	NR	NS
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	37*	12*	14	NR	13	33	13	10	NR	NR	NS
JRA Part I ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4mg/m ² twice/wk	39	10	NR	NR	NR	35	16	NR	14	NR	NS
JRA	PLA	4	≈Pt I	NR	NR	NR	≈Pt I	≈Pt I	NR	≈Pt I	NR	NS
Part II ^[105]	SC ETA 0.4mg/m ² twice/wk	4	≈Pt I	NR	NR	NR	≈Pt I	≈Pt I	NR	≈Pt I	NR	NS
Psoriasis ^[106]	PLA	3	NR	NR	NR	20	12	13	17	10	NR	NS
	SC ETA 25mg twice/wk	20	NR	NR	NR	0*	27	17	10	17	NR	NS

a Occurred in the trial but no numbers given.

ETA = etanercept; JRA = juvenile rheumatoid arthritis; MTX = methotrexate; NR = no information reported; NS = not significantly different from placebo; PLA = placebo; = placebo; = placebo; = approximately the same as Part I; RA = rheumatoid arthritis; SC = subcutaneous; URI = upper respiratory infection; * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.001.

b Events/patient-year.

sured by x-ray changes. By 2 years, however, significantly more patients had a response to etanercept than methotrexate in each of these categories, although many patients on methotrexate did do very well.

5.4 Long-Term Open Studies in Adult RA with Etanercept

Patients who completed phase I, II, and III studies with etanercept as monotherapy and whose disease did not respond to at least one DMARD were allowed to enter an open-label safety study.

In the initial reports, [109,110] 105 patients who had previously been treated with etanercept in clinical trials for up to 3 months and then stopped etanercept for a median of 17 months (while waiting for this open-label safety trial to begin) were restarted on subcutaneous etanercept at 25mg twice weekly. Patients were allowed to continue NSAIDs, corticosteroids (≤10 mg/day) and analgesics. Patients had an immediate response to retreatment with etanercept, which was sustained. By 3 months of therapy, >50% improvement was seen in 68% of patients for TJC and 57% for SJC. By 18 months the improvement was 75 and 74%, respectively.

Long-term safety has been reported in 782 patients. [111] By 33 months, patients continued to have a sustained response with 16% having no active joints. More importantly no significant differences in rate or type of adverse events were seen when compared with placebo or etanercept-treated patients in the controlled trials. The most common adverse event was ISR (43%) which were mild with < 0.5% of patients withdrawing for this reason. Clinically, it is important to advise patients of the possibility of the development if these reactions.

Safety and efficacy data has recently been reported on 628 patients from the original group followed up to 4.3 years (mean 2.4 years). [112,113] 479 patients have received etanercept for over 1 year, 420 for over 2 years, 164 for over 3 years and 12 for over 4 years. 69% achieved an ACR 20, 50%

an ACR 50 and 25% an ACR 70. Some patients had no tender or swollen joints and some achieved a zero HAQ. 59% of patients receiving corticosteroids decreased their dose by a mean of 71%, 29% discontinued corticosteroids and only 5% increased their dose. Etanercept continued to be well tolerated. No significant or unusual adverse events were seen compared with normal populations and the controlled trials. Serious infections occurred at a rate of 0.05 per patient-year in the long-term trial versus 0.04 in etanercept-treated patients and 0.05 in placebo-treated patients in the controlled trials. Nine malignancies were seen versus 12.7 expected from the National Cancer Institute database, which is a national database in the US of malignancies seen in the general population.

Several abstracts [114-116] have described the long-term safety and efficacy of 79 patients who continued in an open-label trial of subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice weekly and methotrexate. In the extension, reduction of methotrexate and corticosteroids was allowed after a minimum of 3 months' treatment. In the most recent report,[116] patients had received treatment for a median of 32 months (maximum 37). These patients were doing well clinically at follow-up and had not developed increased or unusual adverse effects. It should be noted that one patient in the initial study developed a malignancy (non-Hodgkin's lymphoma) while two in the extension study have done so (carcinoma of the breast and larynx). Both patients recovered and resumed therapy with etanercept. At baseline, 100% of patients were taking methotrexate at a mean dose of 18 mg/week. 68% have reduced their dose by a mean of 63%, and 28% discontinued methotrexate. In the 45 patients originally receiving corticosteroids, the mean dose was 6.3mg. 67% have reduced their dose by a mean of 78%, and 42% have discontinued corticosteroids. Even with these reductions, response to treatment has been sustained with 69% of patients achieving an ACR 20, 51% an ACR 50 and 27% an ACR 70. 19 of 70 patients had no tender joints, 10 of 70 no swollen joints and 12 of 70 had a zero HAQ at this time point.

5.5 Etanercept in Juvenile RA

The Juvenile Rheumatoid Arthritis (JRA) study group^[105] studied etanercept in children with polyarticular course JRA of any onset type. The study had a unique design for RA trials. 69 children were entered into an open-label study for 3 months (Part I) with all patients receiving subcutaneous etanercept at a dose of 0.4 mg/m² twice weekly (equivalent to 25mg twice weekly in the adult population). Inclusion criteria for the Part I study was age between 4 and 17, refractory or intolerant to methotrexate (>10 mg/m²/week), and have at least five active joints and at least three joints with loss of motion (LOM) with pain and tenderness. Patients had to discontinue methotrexate for at least 2 weeks prior to baseline and other DMARDs for at least 4 weeks. Stable NSAIDs and low-dose corticosteroids were allowed. To be eligible for Part II, which was the randomised, double-blind placebocontrolled study, patients had to respond to etanercept in Part I with a >30% improvement in at least three of the six JRA core set criteria[117,118] and have >30% worsening in no more than one of the six criteria. The endpoint of Part II was the number of patients who flared when either continued on etanercept or placed on placebo. Flare was defined as >30% worsening in at least three of the six JRA core set criteria and >30% improvement in not more than of the criteria with at least two active joints or two unit increase of global assessments. In Part I, patients were assessed at screening, baseline, day 15, 30, 60 and 90 and in Part II each 30 days until flare. Also assessed at screening, month 3 and 7 was serum for autoantibodies and for antibodies to etanercept. The baseline demographics are presented in table I, clinical activity in table II, clinical response in table III, completer analysis in table IV and ACR response in table V.

Of the 69 patients entered into the 3-month open-label study, 64 (93%) completed the study

and 51 (74%) met the requirements to enter Part II as a responder. As in adults, response was very rapid with response seen as early as 2 weeks. By 3 months, 100% of the patients (by definition) had at least a 30% improvement. Approximately 90% improved by 50%, and 50% improved by 70%. In Part II patients continued to receive etanercept by and large continued to maintain their significant clinical improvement (table III) while the placebo group began to deteriorate towards their Part I baseline values within 2 months. No patient had persistent elevations in autoantibodies or had signs or symptoms of an autoimmune disease. Two patients developed non-neutralising antibody to etanercept.

This trial showed that etanercept at 0.4 mg/m² is as efficacious in children for the signs and symptoms of RA as well as function measured by the CHAQ (Childhood HAQ) as in adults. Etanercept was rapidly effective and needed to be maintained for continued efficacy as flare occurred as early as 1 to 2 weeks after discontinuation. The 74% of children who responded are similar to the percentage of adults with RA who respond to etanercept in clinical trials. Joint x-rays were not done in this trial. For this reason it is not yet proven that the excellent clinical response will correspond to decreased joint damage over time which is even more important in this group than in adults.

6. Etanercept in Other Diseases

6.1 Psoriasis

The largest study reported with etanercept in diseases other than RA is in psoriasis. [106] This study was a 3-month placebo-controlled trial with patients treated either with subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice daily or placebo. To be included in this trial, patients had to have active psoriatic arthritis defined as >3 swollen and tender or painful joints with an inadequate response to NSAIDs and requiring immunomodulatory therapy. Methotrexate ≤25 mg/week was allowed if stable for at least 4 weeks prior to the study and stable through-

out the study. All other DMARDs were discontinued at least 2 weeks prior to baseline. Prednisone ≤10 mg/day was also allowed if stable ≥4 weeks prior to baseline and throughout the study. The endpoints of this study were the psoriatic arthritis response criterion. Patients were assessed at screening, baseline and at 12 weeks both for their arthritis and psoriasis. The baseline demographics are in table I, clinical activity in table II, clinical response in table III, completer analysis in table IV and ACR response in table V. The results of this study were similar to those seen in the RA trials. In addition, a majority of the patients had significant improvement in their psoriatic skin lesions as well.

6.2 Still's Disease in Adults

A 6-month, open-label study was conducted in 12 adults with Still's disease who met the criteria for systemic onset JRA and who had active arthritis. They were treated with subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice weekly for 2 months.[120] If no response was seen by that time, etanercept was increased to 25mg three times weekly (four patients). Demographics included a mean age 36 years, 10 of 12 were female, mean disease duration of 10.7 years and patients had taken a mean of 3.6 prior DMARDs. Four of 12 had onset of their disease prior to age 16 years. The patients had active disease with multiple tender and swollen joints, elevated ESR and three patients had fever and rash as disease manifestations. Ten patients completed the study while two discontinued because of disease flare. Patients who completed the study (10 of 12) had a significant response with marked decrease of TJC (54%), decreased SJC (63%) and decreased ESR (27%). At the end of 6 months 67% achieved an ACR 20, 42% an ACR 50 and 17% an ACR 70. Only one of the three patients with fever and rash had decrease of the fever or resolution of the rash. No unusual adverse events were seen in these patients.

6.3 Ankylosing Spondylitis

Ten patients with spondyloarthropathy with inflammatory back pain and peripheral arthritis resistant to DMARDs were studied in a 6-month open-label trial with subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice weekly.^[121] Patients were assessed every 4 weeks for day and night pain on a 100mm visual analogue scale (VAS) as well as for the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Disease Activity Index (BASDAI) and the Bath Ankylosing Spondylitis Functional Index (BASFI). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the axial skeleton and sacro-iliac joints was performed at baseline and month 6. At the time of the report, six patients completed 6 months of therapy of which four had AS and two spondyloarthropathy. There was a significant improvement in both the day and night VAS as well as in the BASFI and the BASDAI. In 5 of 6 patients bone oedema improved and in 3 of 6 patients there was resolution of the entheseal associated bursal soft tissue oedema. In a second study, [122] 16 patients with AS were treated for 4 months in a placebo-controlled study followed by a 6-month open-label extension. Their mean disease duration was 12 years, 50% were taking two or more medications for their AS, 25% were taking prednisone, methotrexate or sulfasalazine and 63% had not responded to at least one DMARD. Patients were treated with etanercept 25mg twice daily or placebo and were allowed to continue ≤10 mg/day of prednisone and various DMARDs as long as their dose was stable throughout the study. The patients were assessed for duration of morning stiffness, spinal night pain by VAS, BASFI, patient global assessment and SJC. A positive response was defined by at least a 20% improvement in three of these five criteria, which had to include morning stiffness and spinal night pain without worsening of any of the criteria. Eleven patients had completed the 4-month double-blind portion and were in the open-label extension. There was improvement in morning stiffness of 92%, spinal night pain

of 68%, BASFI of 56%, patient global of 48% and SIC of 59%.

These two studies indicate that there might be a significant role for etanercept in AS.

6.4 Progressive Systemic Sclerosis

A 6-month open-label study of ten patients with diffuse progressive systemic sclerosis (PSS) was performed.[123] All patients were treated with subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice daily. The Rodnan skin score was the primary outcome measurement. Secondary outcome measurements were pulmonary function tests, physician and patient global assessments, oral aperture opening, hand extension and a modified HAQ. Four of nine patients had significant decrease in Rodman skin scores (mean 44%). Three of the four patients who started the study with digital ulcers improved. Pulmonary function tests and diffusion capacity of carbon monoxide remained unchanged. There was slight improvement in physician and patient global assessment as well as in HAQ. Oral aperture and hand extension was unchanged. Thus some patients seemed to improve in dermatological but not in pulmonary manifestations. A larger, doubleblind study in early patients as defined by disease manifestations would be useful to see if there is a role for etanercept in PSS.

6.5 Wegener's Granulomatosis

Twenty patients with Wegener's granulomatosis were evaluated in a 6-month open-label study in which etanercept was added to conventional therapy. [124] All patients met the ACR criteria for Wegener's [125] and had active disease as defined by the Birmingham Vasculitis Activity Scale for Wegener's granulomatosis (BVAS/WG)[126] within 1 month of their baseline visit. All patients were treated with subcutaneous etanercept 25mg twice daily. Sixteen of 20 had limited disease and 4 of 20 had severe disease at baseline. Six of the 20 received a new immunosuppressive at baseline while the other 14 continued on their pre-existing

immunosuppressives. One patient who had retroorbital disease withdrew at 4 months. Because of the heterogeneity of the patient population and the differences in treatment regimens, this study was designed to evaluate safety rather than efficacy. The most frequent adverse event was ISRs, two infections (pneumococcal tracheobronchitis and localised Herpes zoster) in one patient, elevated liver transaminase levels in one patient, and neutropenia in five patients (related to concomitant cyclophosphamide or methotrexate). There seemed to be efficacy in that the mean BVAS/WG decreased from 3.6 to 0.6, the mean daily dose of prednisone was reduced from 19mg to 7.4 mg, five patients were in remission at 6 months and two patients discontinued corticosteroids. These results would suggest that a larger, double-blind study should be conducted, as there did not appear to be safety concerns and there may have been efficacy secondary to etanercept.

6.6 Uveitis

Reiff et al., [127] studied ten children with treatmentresistant, chronically active uveitis in a 6-month open-label study. Seven of the ten had uveitis associated with pauciarticular JRA while three had idiopathic uveitis. Five had anterior uveitis, four had pan uveitis and one had pars plantis. All patients had failed to respond to treatment with topical corticosteroids, methotrexate and/or cyclosporin. The patients were treated with 0.4 mg/kg subcutaneously twice weekly for 3 months. If no improvement was noted, then the children were treated with 25mg subcutaneously twice weekly for the next 3 months. Seven of ten required such a dose increase. At baseline 18 eyes in the ten children were involved. Ten of the 18 eyes examined for anterior chamber density improved or remitted by 3 months. Intraocular pressure and visual acuity were unchanged. Increase of the dosage of etanercept to 25mg twice weekly led to no further improvement. A uveitis flare occurred in 5 of 18 eyes while on etanercept while 3 of 18 went into remission. The only adverse event noted was ISR. These

results would indicate a limited role for etanercept in treatment-resistant chronic uveitis in children.

7. Other issues with Etanercept

7.1 Institution of Therapy

These reports clearly show that etanercept is effective and has a fairly benign safety profile. It is, however, an expensive medication. There is, therefore, much discussion as to when etanercept should be employed in the treatment of patients with RA considering that the older DMARDs may be effective with less cost. Etanercept is effective in early RA, in combination with methotrexate and in patients who have not responded to DMARD treatment. If employed early, there is, in addition to its excellent anti-inflammatory effect, a marked inhibition of x-ray progression that may lead to decreased disability in the long term. Two patient populations were compared (those with early RA vs DMARD failures)[128] to address whether patients treated early in disease will have improved HAO score versus those treated late. It was found that, although they had similar clinical activity prior to therapy including their HAQ scores (1.5 vs 1.6), by 24 months of therapy all of the disease activity measures were similarly dramatically reduced with the exception of the HAQ score. Those patients with late disease reduced the HAQ score to 1.0 while those with early disease were able to reduce their score to 0.6. The difference between a HAQ of 0.6 and 1.0 represents a significant difference in patient function. This would strongly suggest that early therapy is important with respect to maintaining patient function.

7.2 Administration

It has been shown that there is a dose response with increasing dose of etanercept. [97,99,103,129] While subcutaneous etanercept 10mg twice weekly [104] is more effective than placebo with respect to clinical improvement and x-ray progression, it is not quite as effective as methotrexate and less effective than etanercept 25mg twice weekly.

A 6-month, double-blind, trial^[130] was conducted comparing etanercept 25mg twice weekly to 50mg twice weekly in 77 patients. Although the patients in the 50mg twice weekly group had a faster response, by 6 months the response was similar. At 6 months the ACR 20, 50 and 70 were 65, 38 and 15% in the 25mg twice weekly group compared with 63, 37 and 16% in the 50mg group. Four patients in the 50mg group discontinued treatment because of adverse events compared with none in the 25mg group. Eight percent of the patients in the 25mg group and 6% in the 50mg group discontinued for lack of efficacy. Adverse events were similar in the two groups.

7.3 Effects in Special Populations

The phase III study was analysed for differences in clinical response between those patients 65 years of age or older and those who were younger. [131] 42 of the 234 patients in the phase III trial who were aged >65 were treated with either 10 or 25mg of etanercept for 6 months. 63% of the elderly patients in the 25mg group reached an ACR 20 and 44% an ACR 50 versus 58 and 39% in the <65 age group. Similar changes were seen with respect to decreased tender and swollen joint counts. Although both groups had an improvement in their HAQ score, the percentage improvement favoured the younger patients (43 vs 24%).

7.4 Effects on Immune Function

In the large phase III study of patients who had not responded to DMARD therapy, serum samples were collected pre- and post-study from 49 patients in order to detect the effect of etanercept on immunocompetence. Delayed type hypersensitivity skin testing, determination of serum immunoglobulin levels and enumeration of immune effector cell populations by flow cytometry analysis were preformed at baseline, 3 and 6 months. Lymphoproliferation was also assessed. No differences between placebo and etanercept was seen other than an increase in the immunoglobulin (Ig) M levels in

etanercept treated patients. In this same patient population serum was collected pre and post treatment for the detection of autoantibodies and antibody development to etanercept. It was found that 5% of patients had autoantibodies to DNA prior to the study. Five percent developed anti-DNA antibodies during the study but 67% of these had a negative ANA. No patients developed other autoantibodies or clinical systemic lupus.

8. Safety

8.1 Injection Site Reactions

As seen in table VI the only adverse effect that clearly occurs with etanercept is ISR. ISRs occur in approximately one-third of patients and are generally mild to moderate and self-limiting. The reactions tend to occur early in treatment and resolve with time.

8.2 Infection

When introduced into clinical practice, there was concern about the development and response to infection. During the double-blind and open clinical trials, the incidence of infections, when adjusted for length of therapy was similar to those patients treated with placebo. In addition the type of infection and response to therapy was similar. In post-marketing surveillance there have been infrequent reports of serious infections some of which have had a fatal outcome. The associated risk factors seem to be diabetes mellitus and recurrent infections. For this reason there was an update to the label in the US, which states that if a patient develops a new infection while on etanercept, that they should be monitored closely. Etanercept should be discontinued if the patient develops a serious infection or sepsis. It is also suggested that etanercept should not be initiated in patients with active infections including chronic or localised infections.[133]

8.3 Development of Malignancy

The second area of concern is malignancy. In the double-blind and open-label studies there have been patients who have developed malignancies. The rate of development and types of malignancies, however, is no different than that expected from the National Cancer Institute database. [112] This question will not be able to be answered until etanercept has been used clinically for many more years.

8.4 Neurological Effects

Four cases of patients who developed confusion and difficulty walking while on etanercept have been reported^[134] out of the approximately 90 000 patients who have been treated with etanercept. The events were temporally related and resolved or diminished on discontinuation of therapy. One patient had a positive rechallenge. Such events have been reported with other inhibitors of TNF and thus this may be a class effect. It is therefore suggested that etanercept not be instituted in patients with demyelinating diseases and that if a patient develops neurological symptoms while on etanercept, therapy should be discontinued.

8.5 Haematological Effects

During regulatory revue in Europe, several cases of pancytopenia and aplastic anaemia were seen. Most of the patients were receiving concomitant therapy associated with these adverse events. No causal relationship was established between these events and the use of etanercept. As of yet, there has been no change in the recommendation for laboratory testing although the clinician may elect to follow complete blood counts on a regular basis.

8.6 Pregnancy and Lactation

There are no published data on pregnancy as pregnant patients were excluded from all the trials and patients had to be on adequate birth control. With respect to nursing mothers, it is recom-

mended that patients discontinue nursing or etanercept.

8.7 Use in Malignancy and Hepatitis C

There are also no published data on the use of etanercept in patients with malignancy or with hepatitis C other than in the open-label safety trial as noted above.

8.8 Rare Events

The only other unusual adverse effects reported have been single case reports of atrial fibrillation, [135] leukocytoclastic vasculitis, [136] and type I diabetes mellitus [137]

8.9 Autoantibodies

Non-neutralising antibodies to etanercept have been detected rarely in patients treated with etanercept. In trials, a small number of patients had antibodies to double-stranded DNA prior to the study and rare patients in both the placebo group and etanercept group did develop antibodies to double-stranded DNA during the study. Half of these patients did not have a positive ANA. A small number of patients shifted from negative to positive and positive to negative with regard to ANA and anticardiolipin antibodies. No patients had new connective-tissue disorders, thrombotic events or thrombocytopenia. It has been reported that some patients treated with etanercept for RA, however, do develop autoimmune skin rashes but there have been no cases reported of active systemic lupus erythematosus.^[138] In addition, it has been reported that some patients treated with etanercept will develop antibodies that can interfere with some laboratory assays.[139]

9. Conclusions

Unfortunately, one cannot compare the clinical trials conducted with methotrexate, leflunomide, infliximab, etanercept or anakinra. The reasons for this is that the trials were all conducted in different patient populations who had significantly different

disease characteristics such as length of illness and background therapy. In addition, there were significant differences in study design. The only way to compare the therapies would be to conduct a doubleblind comparator study that compares one to another. These studies have not as yet been done.

Etanercept, the first biological response modifier (BRM) approved for use in RA in the US, is a very effective medication for the treatment of RA and is effective in patients with early disease, in combination with methotrexate, in patients who have not responded to DMARD treatment and in juvenile arthritis. It also appears to be effective in psoriatic arthritis. Its efficacy in Wegener's, PSS, Still's, chronic uveitis in children and AS can not be fully known until double-blind studies have been performed. Its safety profile to date has been excellent although the development of malignancies, serious infections and demyelinating diseases will have to be monitored in the future. Etanercept, as well as the other BRMs released to date, have had an impact on patients and their lives that has not been seen previously. The dramatic clinical responses and apparent safety have allowed many patients with RA (as well as other rheumatic diseases) resume a normal or near normal life. No other medications introduced for RA have had as dramatic effect than the introduction of corticosteroids.

Practically, a patient with early RA or psoriasis which is active despite NSAID therapy for several weeks (while diagnosis is being established) should be treated, in my opinion, first with methotrexate as a first-line DMARD therapy as long as there are no contraindications to methotrexate. If there are contraindications, then the use of sulfasalazine or leflunomide would be acceptable. Corticosteroid use as 'bridge therapy' is also helpful. methotrexate should be aggressively administered so that by around 3 months it should be clear whether the patient will have a sufficient response (or to leflunomide or sulfasalazine). If the patient has had a response, but still has active disease, then the addition of etanercept would be reasonable at

this timepoint. Other reasonable uses for etanercept are certainly in addition to methotrexate when there is only a partial response to methotrexate (or to other DMARDs) or in patients who have not responded to DMARDs. Similarly, etanercept should be considered in addition to methotrexate in juvenile arthritis or psoriatic arthritis when there is continued disease activity. In theses two diseases, similar to RA, it can be used in DMARD failures. In certain patients in whom methotrexate and other DMARDs are contraindicated for one reason or another, etanercept can be used as first-line therapy.

There are still questions as to the long-term adverse events that may occur with any new medication, including etanercept. For patients with RA, it would be hoped that the efficacy and safety of etanercept seen in the short term, will continue for many years.

Acknowledgements

There was no funding for this manuscript. Dr Fleischmann is on advisory boards and has been a consultant and performed clinical studies for Immunex, Wyeth-Ayerst, Centocor, Amgen and Aventis.

References

- Koopman WJ, editor. Arthritis and allied conditions. 14th ed. Philadelphia (PA): Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001:
- Hochberg MC, Spector TD. Epidemiology of rheumatoid arthritis: update. Epidemiol Rev 1990; 12: 247-52
- Lawrence RC, Hochberg MC, Kelsey JL, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of selected arthritic and musculoskeletal diseases in the United States. J Rheumatol 1989; 16: 427-41
- Spector TD, Scott DL. What happens to patients with rheumatoid arthritis? Long term outcome of treatment. Clin Rheumatol 1988; 7: 315-30
- Sangha O. Epidemiology of rheumatic diseases. Rheumatology 2000; 39 Suppl. 2: 3-12
- Pinals RS. Survival in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1987; 30: 473-5
- Gabriel S, Crowson C, O'Fallon WM. Heart disease in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41 (9 Suppl.): S132
- Barrett EM, Scott DGI, Wiles NJ, et al. The impact of rheumatoid arthritis on employment status in the early years of disease: a UK community based study. Rheumatology 2000; 39: 1403-9
- Borigini MJ, Paulus HE. Rheumatoid arthritis. Treatment of rheumatic disease companion to Kelley's Textbook of rheumatology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders Company, 2001: 217-9

- Brooks P. Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs. Primer on the rheumatic diseases. 11th ed. Atlanta, Georgia: Arthritis Foundation, 1997: 432-6
- Fox RI, Kang H. Mechanism of action of antimalarial drugs: inhibition of antigen processing and presentation. Lupus 1993; 2 Suppl. 1: S9
- Sigler JW, Bluhm GB, Duncan H, et al. Gold salts in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. A double-blind study. Ann Intern Med 1974; 80: 21-6
- Luukkainen R. Chrysotherapy in rheumatoid arthritis with particular emphasis on radiograph changes and on the optimal time of initiation of therapy. Scand J Rheumatol Suppl. 1980; 34: 1-56
- Gordon DA, Klinkhoff AV. Gold and penicillamine. Ruddy: Kelley's textbook of rheumatology. 6th ed. St Louis (MO): WB Saunders Company, 2001: 869-78
- Svartz N. The treatment of rheumatic polyarthritis with acid azo compounds. Rheumatism 1948; 56: 1-6
- Kuzell WC, Gardner GM. Salicylazosulfapyridine (salazopyrin or azopyrin) in rheumatoid arthritis and experimental polyarthritis. Calif Med 1950; 73: 476-80
- McConkey B, Amos RS, Butler EP, et al. Salazopyrin in rheumatoid arthritis. Agents Actions 1978 Jun; 8 (4): 438-41
- McConkey B, Amos RS, Durham S, et al. Sulphasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis. BMJ 1980 Feb 16; 280 (6212): 442-4
- Sinclair RJG, Duthie JJR. Salazopyrin in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 1949; 8: 226-31
- Neumann VC, Grindulis KA, Hubbal S, et al. Comparison between penicillamine and sulphasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis: Leeds-Birmingham trial. BMJ 1983; 287: 1099-102
- Pullar T, Hunter JA, Cappell HA. Sulphasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis: a double-blind comparison of sulphasalazine with placebo and sodium aurothiomalate. BMJ 1983; 287: 1102-4
- Bax DE, Amos RS. Sulphasalazine: a safe, effective agent for prolonged control of rheumatoid arthritis. A comparison with sodium aurothiomalate. Ann Rheum Dis 1985 Mar; 44 (3): 194-8
- Pinals RS, Kaplan SB, Lawson JG, et al. Sulfasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 1986 Dec; 29 (12): 1427-34
- Williams HJ, Ward JR, Dahl SL, et al. A controlled trial comparing sulfasalazine, gold sodium thiomalate, and placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1988 Jun; 31 (6): 702-13
- The Australian Multicentre Clinical Trial Group. Sulfasalazine in early rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 1992 Nov; 19 (11): 1672-7
- Mottonen T, Hannonen P, Hakola M, et al. Sulfasalazine in early RA. Arthritis Rheum 1993; 36: 1501-9
- Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Meenan RF. The comparative efficacy and toxicity of second-line drugs in rheumatoid arthritis: results of two meta-analyses. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33: 1449-61
- Taffet SL, Das KM. Sulfasalazine: adverse effects and desensitization. Dig Dis Sci 1983; 28: 833-42
- Williams HJ, Willkens RF, Samuelson Jr CO, et al. Comparison of low-dose oral pulse methotrexate and placebo in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: a controlled clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum 1985 Jul; 28 (7): 721-30
- Thompson RN, Watts C, Edelman J, et al. A controlled twocentre trial of parenteral methotrexate therapy for refractory rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 1984 Dec; 11 (6): 760-3
- Andersen PA, West SG, O'Dell JR, et al. Weekly pulse methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. Clinical and immunologic

- effects in a randomized, double blind study. Ann Intern Med 1985 Oct; 103 (4): 489-96
- 32. Weinblatt ME, Coblyn JS, Fox DA, et al. Efficacy of low-dose methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 1985 Mar 28; 312 (13): 818-22
- Tugwell P, Bennett K, Gent M. Methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. Indications, contraindications, efficacy, and safety. Ann Intern Med 1987 Sep; 107 (3): 358-66
- 34. Becerra F. Manejo de la. Artritis reumatoide con metotrexate. Evaluacion preliminar en 50 pacientes. [Management of rheumatoid arthritis with methotrexate: preliminary evaluation in 50 patients] [in Spanish]. Bull Assoc Peru Rheum 1987; 7: 2-6
- 35. Carvallo AV, Wolff CF, Armas RM, et al. Artritis reumatoidea. Eficacia terapéutica del metotrexate y sus efectos hepatotoxicos [Rheumatoid arthritis: therapeutic efficacy of methotrexate and its hepatotoxic effects] [in Spanish]. Rev Med Chil 1993; 121: 777-84
- Hanrahan PS, Scrivens GA, Russell AS. Prospective long term follow-up of methotrexate therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: toxicity, efficacy and radiological progression. Br J Rheumatol 1989 Apr; 28 (2): 147-53
- 37. Bannwarth B, Vernhes J, Schaeverbeke T, et al. The facts about methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis [letter]. Rev Rheum 1995; 62: 471-3
- 38. O'Dell JR. Methotrexate use in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 1997 Nov; 23 (4): 779-96
- Boerbooms AM, Jeurissen ME, Westgeest AA, et al. Methotrexate in refractory rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Rheumatol 1988 Jun; 7 (2): 249-56
- Kremer JM, Lee JK. A long-term prospective study of the use of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. Update after a mean of fifty-three months. Arthritis Rheum 1988 May; 31 (5): 577-84
- Willkens RF. Resolve: methotrexate is the drug of choice after NSAIDs in rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1990 Oct; 20 (2): 76-80
- Alarcon GS. Methotrexate for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in the late 1990s. Rheum Arthritis Idx Rev 1999; 1: 4-5
- Galindo-Rodriguez G, Avina-Zubieta JA, Fitzgerald A, et al. Variations and trends in the prescription of initial second line therapy for patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 1997 Apr 24 (4): 633-8
- Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Meenan RF. Comparative efficacy and toxicity of second line drugs in RA. Arthritis Rheum 1990 Oct; 33 (10): 1449-61
- 45. Mladenovic V, Domljan Z, Rozman B, et al. Safety and effectiveness of leflunomide in the treatment of patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. Results of a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II study. Arthritis Rheum 1995 Nov; 38 (11): 1595-603
- Strand V, Cohen S, Schiff M, et al. Treatment of active rheumatoid arthritis with leflunomide compared with placebo and methotrexate. Leflunomide Rheumatoid Arthritis Investigators Group. Arch Intern Med 1999 Nov 22; 159 (21): 2542-50
- 47. Weinblatt ME, Kremer JM, Coblyn JS, et al. Pharmacokinetics, safety, and efficacy of combination treatment with methotrexate and leflunomide in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1999 Jul; 42 (7): 1322-8
- 48. Lopez-Mendez A, Daniel WW, Reading JC, et al. Radiographic assessment of disease progression in rheumatoid arthritis patients enrolled in the cooperative systematic studies of the rheumatic diseases program randomized clinical trial of meth-

- otrexate, auranofin, or a combination of the two. Arthritis Rheum 1993 Oct; 36 (10): 1364-9
- Nordstrom DM, West SG, Andersen PA, et al. Pulse methotrexate therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. A controlled prospective roentgenographic study. Ann Intern Med 1987 Dec; 107 (6): 797-801
- Jeurissen ME, Boerbooms AM, van de Putte LB, et al. Influence of methotrexate and azathioprine on radiologic progression in rheumatoid arthritis. A randomized, double blind study. Ann Intern Med 1991 Jun 15; 114 (12): 999-1004
- Rau R, Herborn G, Karger T, et al. Retardation of radiologic progression in rheumatoid arthritis with methotrexate therapy. A controlled study. Arthritis Rheum 1991 Oct; 34 (10): 1236-44
- 52. Weinblatt ME, Polisson R, Blotner SD, et al. The effects of drug therapy on radiographic progression of rheumatoid arthritis. Results of a 36-week randomized trial comparing methotrexate and auranofin. Arthritis Rheum 1993 May; 36 (5): 613-9
- Drosos AA, Karantanas AH, Psychos D, et al. Can treatment with methotrexate influence the radiological progression of rheumatoid arthritis? Clin Rheumatol 1990 Sep; 9 (3): 342-5
- Reykdal S, Steinsson K, Sigurjonsson K, et al. Methotrexate treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: effects on radiological progression. Scand J Rheumatol 1989; 18 (4): 221-6
- 55. Sharp JT, Strand V, Leung H, et al. Treatment with leflunomide slows radiographic progression of rheumatoid arthritis: results from three randomized controlled trials of leflunomide in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis. Leflunomide Rheumatoid Arthritis Investigators Group. Arthritis Rheum 2000 Mar; 43 (3): 495-505
- Pincus T, Marcum SB, Callahan LF. Long term drug therapy for RA in seven rheumatology private practices. J Rheumatol 1992; 19: 1885-1894
- 57. Wolfe F. Epidemiology of drug treatment failure in RA. Clin Rheumatol 1995; 9: 619-32
- Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Meenan RF. Use of short-term efficacy/toxicity tradeoffs to select second-line drugs in rheumatoid arthritis. A metaanalysis of published clinical trials. Arthritis Rheum 1992 Oct; 35 (10): 1117-25
- Gispen JG, Alarcon GS, Johnson JJ, et al. Toxicity to methotrexate in RA. J Rheumatol 1987; 14: 74-9
- Sandoval DM, Alarcon GS, Morgan SL. Adverse events in methotrexate-treated rheumatoid arthritis patients. Br J Rheumatol 1995; 34: 49-56
- 61. Felson DT, Anderson JJ, Boers M, et al. American College of Rheumatology Preliminary definition of improvement in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1995; 38: 727-35
- Emery P, Breedveld F, Lemmel EM, et al. A phase III, randomized, double blind study of leflunomide versus methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. XIV European League against Rheumatism Congress [abstract]. Ann Rheum Dis 1999; 59: S133
- Emery P, Breedveld FC, Jubb RW, et al. Efficacy and safety of leflunomide vs methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis (RA): results of a double-blind, randomized, 2-year trial [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: S271
- 64. Smolen JS, Kalden JR, Scott DL, et al. Efficacy and safety of leflunomide compared with placebo and sulphasalazine in active rheumatoid arthritis: a double-blind, randomized, multicentre trial. Lancet 1999; 353: 259-66
- 65. Larsen A, Smolen JS, Kalden JR, et al. Radiographic analysis of disease progression with leflunomide vs placebo vs sulfasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis. XIV European League

- Against Rheumatism Congress [abstract]. Ann Rheum Dis 1999: 20: S209
- Smolen JS, Larsen A, Kalden JR, et al. Retardation of structural damage with leflunomide in rheumatoid arthritis assessed by Larsen methodology: 2-year results [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: S82
- 67. Weinblatt ME, Kremer, JM, et al. Leflunomide plus methotrexate in refractory rheumatoid arthritis: a pilot study [abstract 974]. Arthritis Rheum 1997; 40: S193
- 68. Kremer JM, Caldwell JR, Cannon GW, et al. The combination of leflunomide (LEF) and methotrexate (MTX) in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis (RA) who are failing on MTX treatment alone: a double-blind placebo (PLC) controlled study [abstract 948]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S224
- O'Dell JR, Haire CE, Erikson N, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with methotrexate alone, sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine, or a combination of all three medications. N Engl J Med 1996 May; 334 (20): 1287-91
- Tugwell P, Pincus T, Yocum D, et al. Combination therapy with cyclosporine and methotrexate in severe rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 1995 July; 333 (3): 137-141
- Boers M, Verhoeven AC, Markusse HM, et al. Randomised comparison of combined step-down prednisolone, methotrexate and sulphasalazine with sulphasalazine alone in early rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet 1997 Aug; 350: 309-18
- 72. Maini RN, Taylor PC. Anticytokine therapy for RA. Ann Rev Med 2000; 51: 207-29
- Saklatvala J. Tumor necrosis factorα stimulates resorption and inhibits synthesis of proteoglycan in cartilage. Nature 1986; 322: 547-9
- Pettipher ER, Higgs GA, Henderson B. Interleukin 1 induces leukocyte infiltration and cartilage proteoglycan degradation in the synovial joint. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83: 8749-53
- Choy EHS, Panayi GS. Cytokine pathways and joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 12: 907-16
- Shingu M, Nagai Y, Isayama T, et al. The effects of cytokines on metalloproteinase inhibitors (TIMP) and collagenase production by human chondrocytes and TIMP production by synovial cells and endothelial cells. Clin Exp Immunol 1993; 94: 145-9
- Girasole G, Passeri G, Jilka RL, et al. Interleukin-11: a new cytokine critical for osteoclast development. J Clin Invest 1994; 93: 1516-24
- 78. Chin JE, Winterrowd GE, Krzesicki RF, et al. Role of cytokine in inflammatory synovitis: the coordinate regulation of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and HLA class 1and class II antigens in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33: 1776-86
- Pettipher ER, Higgs GA, Henderson B. Interleukin 1 induces leukocyte infiltration and cartilage proteoglycan degradation in the synovial joint. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83: 8749-53
- Butler DM, Maini RN, Feldmann M, et al. Modulation of proinflammatory cytokine release in rheumatoid synovial membrane cell cultures: comparison of monoclonal anti TNF-α antibody withInterleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Eur Cytokine Netw 1995; 6: 225-30
- Knight DM, Trinh H, Le J, et al. Construction and initial characterization of mouse human chimeric anti TNF alpha antibody. Molecular Immunol 1993; 30: 1443-53

- Siegel SA, Shealy DJ, Nakada MT, et al. The mouse/human chimeric monoclonal antibody (CA2) neutralizes TNF invitro and protects transgenic mice from cachexia and TNF lethality in vivo. Cytokine 1995; 7: 15-25
- 83. Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, et al. Treatment of RA with chimeric monoclonal antibody to TNF alpha. Arthritis Rheum: 1993; 36: 1681-90
- Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, et al. Randomized doubleblind comparison of chimeric monoclonal antibody to TNF alpha CA2 versus placebo in RA. Lancet 1994; 344: 1105-10
- Maini RN, Breedveld FC, Kalden JR, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of multiple IV infusions of anti TNF alpha monoclonal antibody combined with low dose weekly methotrexate in RA. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: 1552-63
- 86. Maini RN, St Clair EW, Breedveld FC, et al. for ATTRACT group. Infliximab versus placebo in RA patients receiving concomitant methotrexate: a randomized phase III trial. Lancet 1999; 354: 1932-9
- Lipsky PE, van der Heijde DMFM, St Clair EW, et al. Infliximab and methotrexate in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2000; Nov 30; 343: 1594-602
- 88. Lipsky PE, van der Heijde DMFM, St Clair EW, et al. 102-WK clinical and radiologic results from the ATTRACT trial: a 2 year, randomized, controlled, phase 3 trial of infliximab (Remicade) in pts with active RA despite MTX [abstract 1216]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S269
- Remicade® (infliximab) for IV injection. Prescribing information [online]. Available from URL: www.remicade-ra.com/pdf/prescribing.pdf [Accessed 2002 Mar]
- 90. Charles PJ, Smeenk RJ, De Jong J, et al. Assessment of anti-bodies to double-stranded DNA induced in rheumatoid arthritis patients following treatment with infliximab, a monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor alpha: findings in open-label and randomized placebo-controlled trials. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43 (11): 2383-90
- Bresnihan B. The Safety and efficacy of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2001; 2 Suppl. 30: 17 -22
- Bresnihan B, Alvaro-Garcia JM, Cobby M, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Arthritis Rheum 1998 Dec; 41 (12): 2196-204
- 93. Jiang Y, Genant HK, Watt I, et al. A multicenter, double blind, dose ranging, randomized, and placebo-controlled study of recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: radiological progression and correlation of Genant and Larsen scores. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: 1001-9
- Cohen S, Hurd E, Cush JJ, et al. Treatment of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in combination with methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis patients [abstract]. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: S273
- Nam MH, Reda D, Boujoukos AJ, et al. Recombinant human dimeric tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor (TNFR: Fc): safety and pharmacokinetics in human volunteers [abstract]. Clin Res 1993; 41 (2): 249A
- 96. Moreland LW, Margolies G, Heck LW, et al. Recombinant soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor (p80) fusion protein: toxicity and dose finding trial in refractory rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatology 1996Nov; 23: 1849-55
- 97. Moreland LW, Baumgartner SW, Schiff MH, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with a recombinant human tumor ne-

- crosis factor (p75)-Fc fusion protein. N Engl J Med 1997 Jul 17; 337: 141-7
- Arnett FC, Edworthy SM, Bloch DA, et al. The American Rheumatism Association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1988; 31: 315-24
- Moreland LW, Schiff, MH, et al. Etanercept therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized, controlled study. Ann Intern Med 1909: 130: 478-86
- 100. Weinblatt ME, Kremer JM, Bankhurst AD, et al. A trial of etanercept, a recombinant tumor necrosis factor receptor:Fc fusion protein, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving methotrexate. N Engl J Med 1999 Jan 28; 340: 253-9
- 101. Finck B, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, et al. A Phase III trial of etanercept vs methotrexate in early rheumatoid arthritis (Enbrel ERA trial) [abstract 280]. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42 Suppl.: \$117
- 102. Bathon JM, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, et al. A comparison of etanercept and methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2000 Nov 30; 343: 1586-93
- 103. Genovese M, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, et al. Enbrel (etanercept) vs. methotrexate in early rheumatoid arthritis (ERA trial): two-year follow-up [abstract 1217]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S268
- 104. Genovese M, Martin RW, Fleischmann RM, et al. Enbrel (Etanercept) vs. methotrexate (MTX) in early rheumatoid arthritis (ERA trial): two-year follow-up [abstract OPO121]. Ann Rheum Disease 2001; 60: 77
- 105. Lovell DJ, Giannini EH, Reiff A, et al. Etanercept in children with polyarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 2000 March 16; 342: 763-69
- 106. Mease PJ, Goffe BS, Metz J, et al. Etanercept in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis: a randomised trial. Lancet 2000 July 29; 356: 385-90
- 107. Sharp JT, Lidsky MD, Collins LC, et al. Methods of scoring the progression of radiologic changes in rheumatoid arthritis: correlation of radiologic, clinical and laboratory abnormalities. Arthritis Rheum 1971; 14: 706-20
- 108. van der Heide DM, van Leewen MA, van Riel PL, et al. Biannual radiographic assessments of hands and feet in the threeyear prospective follow-up of patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1991; 35: 26-34
- 109. Weinblatt ME, Moreland LW, Schiff MH, et al. Long-term and Phase III treatment of DMARD failing rheumatoid arthritis patients with TNF receptor P75 fusion protein (TNFR: Fc: Enbrel) [abstract 572]. Arthritis Rheum 1997; 40: S126
- 110. Moreland LW, Baumgartner SW, Tindall EA, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of TNF Receptor (P75) Fc Fusion protein [TNFR: Fc; Enbrel] in DMARD refractory rheumatoid arthritis (RA) [abstract 1989]. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: S363
- 111. Moreland LM, Cohen SB, Baumgartner SW, et al. Long-term use of etanercept in patients with DMARD-refractory rheumatoid arthritis [abstract 1981]. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: S401
- 112. Moreland LM, Cohen SB, Baumgartner SW, et al. Long-term use of Enbrel (etanercept) in patients with DMARD-refractory rheumatoid arthritis [abstract 1219]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S270
- 113. Moreland LW, Cohen SB, Baumgartner SW, et al. Long-term use of Enbrel (etanercept) in patients with DMARD-refractory rheumatoid arthritis [abstract FRI0080]. Ann Rheum Dis 2001; 60: 172

- 114. Weinblatt ME, Kremer JM, Lange DJ, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of combination therapy with methotrexate (MTX) and etanercept (Enbrel) [abstract 1982]. Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: S401
- 115. Kremer JM, Weinblatt ME, Fleischmann RM, et al. Etanercept (Enbrel) in addition to methotrexate (MTX) in rheumatoid arthritis (RA): long-term observations [abstract 1220]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S270
- 116. Fleischmann RM, Weinblatt ME, Kremer JM, et al. Enbrel (etanercept) in addition to methotrexate (MTX) in rheumatoid arthritis (RA): long term observations [abstract FRI0079]. Ann Rheum Dis 2001; 60: 172
- 117. Giannini EH, Ruperto N, Ravelli A, et al. Preliminary definition of improvement in juvenile arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1997; 40: 1202-9
- 118. Giannini EH, Lovell DJ, Felson DT, et al. Preliminary core set of outcome variables for use in RA clinical trials [abstract 1802]. Arthritis Rheum 1994; 37: S428
- Clegg DO, Reda DJ, Mejias E, et al. Comparison of sulfasalazine and placebo in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1996; 39: 2013-20
- 120. Weinblatt ME, Maier AL, Overman SS, et al. Etanercept in Still's disease in the adult [abstract 1949]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S391
- 121. Marzo-Ortega H, McGonagle D, O'Connor P, et al. A clinical and MRI assessment of the efficacy of the recombinant TNF α receptor:Fc fusion protein etanercept in the treatment of resistant spondyloarthropathy [abstract 209]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S101
- 122. Gorman JD, Sack KE, Davis JC, et al. Etanercept in the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis: a randomised, double blind, placebo controlled study [abstract 2020]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S403
- 123. Ellman MH, MacDonald PA, Hayes FA, et al. Etanercept as a treatment for diffuse scleroderma: a pilot study [abstract 1955]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S392
- 124. Stone JH, Uhlfelder ML, Hellman DB, et al. Etanercept combined with conventional treatment in Wegener's granulomatosis. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 44: 1149-54
- 125. Leavitt RY, Fauci AS, Bloch DA, et al. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for the classification of Wegener's granulomatosis. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33: 1101-7
- 126. Stone JH, Hoffman GS, Merkel PA, et al. A disease-specific activity index for Wegener's granulomatosis: a modification of the Birmingham Vasculitis Activity Score. Arthritis Rheum 2001; 44: 912-20
- 127. Reiff A, Takei S, Sadeghi S, et al. Prospective study of etanercept in children with chronic treatment-refractory uveitis [abstract 1887]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43 (9 Suppl.): S381
- 128. Fleischmann RM, Baumgartner SW, Moreland LW, et al. Improvement in disability in RA patients with early vs established disease treated with Enbrel [abstract FRI081]. Ann Rheum Dis 2001; 60: 172
- 129. Moreland LW, Baumgartner SW, Schiff MH, et al. Optimal dose of TNF receptor P75 FC Fusion (TNFR:Fc, Enbrel); [abstract 157]. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: S59
- 130. Schiff MH, Mease PJ, Weinblatt ME, et al. Randomized controlled trial of 25-mg vs 50 mg Enbrel (etanercept) twice weekly in rheumatoid arthritis [abstract 1947]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: S391

- 131. Baumgartner SW, Moreland LW, Schiff MH, et al. Response of elderly patients to TNF receptor P75 Fc fusion protein (TNFR: Fc; Enbrel); [abstract 159]. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: S59
- Moreland LW, Bucy RP, Weinblatt ME, et al. Effects of TNF receptor (P75) fusion protein (TNFR: Fc; Enbrel) on immune function [abstract 158]. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: S59
- 133. Etanercept (Enbrel) Product Insert
- Mohan N, Edwards ET, Cupps TR, et al. Demyelination diagnosed during etanercept (TNF receptor fusion protein) therapy [abstract 970]. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: \$228
- Wooten MD, Reddy GV, Johnson RD. Atrial fibrillation occurring in a patient taking etanercept plus methotrexate for rheumatoid arthritis. Del Med J 2000 Dec; 72 (12): 517-9
- Galaria NA, Werth VP, Schumacher HR. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis due to etanercept. J Rheumatol 2000 Aug; 27 (8): 2041-4

- 137. Bloom BJ. Development of diabetes mellitus during etanercept therapy in a child with systemic-onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2000 Nov; 43 (11): 2606-8
- 138. Brion PH, Mittal-Henkle A, Kalunian KC. Autoimmune skin rashes associated with etanercept for rheumatoid arthritis [letter]. Ann Intern Med 1999; 131: 634
- 139. Russell E, Zeihen M, Wergin S, et al. Patients receiving etanercept may develop antibodies that interfere with monoclonal antibody laboratory assays. Arthritis Rheum 2000; 43: 944

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Roy Fleischmann*, Radiant Research-Dallas, 5939 Harry Hines Boulevard, Suite 400, Dallas, TX 75235, USA.

E-mail: royfleischmann@radiantresearch.com